RECEIVED

Apr 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Honorable Daniel Coble

Appellate Case No. 2024-001296

George S. Glassmeyer..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Lottery Commission.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Taylor M. Smith IV
S.C. Bar No. 101584
Meriwether Law
923 Calhoun Street
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 779-2211
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Did the lower court err in finding Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law that it did not breach the settlement agreement or violate FOIA by declining to provide lottery winners' names at issue in this matter?**
- II. Did the lower court err in concluding Requests 5, 12, and 18 were both overly broad and unduly burdensome, thus ordering Respondent was entitled to relief under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110(A)?**
- III. Did the lower court err in deciding Respondent did not violate FOIA by redacting information Appellant sought under FOIA and the Family Privacy Protection Act of 2002 and supplying information in a different format than he requested?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2013 and 2014, Glassmeyer sent FOIA requests to the Lottery, seeking information about winners of lottery prizes equal to or greater than \$1 million. *S.C. Lottery Comm'n v. Glassmeyer*, 433 S.C. 244, 248, 857 S.E.2d 889, 891 (2021). The Lottery determined some information responsive to those requests—lottery winners’ names, addresses, telephone numbers, and forms of identification—was exempt under the unreasonable-invasion-of-privacy exemption in section 30-4-40(a)(2) of the South Carolina Code, and the Lottery sought a declaratory judgment to that effect. *Id.* After the circuit court granted judgment on the pleadings to the Lottery, which the court of appeals upheld, the Supreme Court of South Carolina reversed and remanded for a new trial stating, “[w]ithout a trial on the issues to develop a factual record, there is no evidence on which the circuit court could base its judgment.” *Id.* at 252, 857 S.E.2d at 893.

On remand, the parties settled in a February 15, 2022 agreement. (R. pp. 77-79; settlement agreement 1-3.) As relevant here, Glassmeyer agreed not to submit FOIA requests to the Lottery seeking information about claimants or prize winners, and the Lottery’s policy not to disclose personal information under section 30-4-40(a)(2) would remain in “full force until May 31, 2023.” (R. pp. 78; settlement agreement 2.) The agreement also provided that “[i]f the South Carolina General Assembly [did] not enact legislation addressing this specific issue by such date, then the South Carolina Lottery Commission [would] provide the full names, cities, and states of lottery prize claimants in response to FOIA requests after that date.” (R. pp. 78; settlement agreement 2.)

On April 4, 2022, Glassmeyer sued the Lottery, arguing it violated FOIA by not posting a fee schedule to its website. Ultimately, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Lottery, finding it did not have to post a fee schedule because it does not charge fees for the review, retrieval, redaction, and production of public records in response to FOIA requests. (R. pp. 212-213; fee schedule order 4-5.)

The Lottery then received the instant FOIA request from Glassmeyer on June 21, 2023, which included 18 individual requests. (R. pp. 57-59; Appellant FOIA Request 1-3.) Dolly Garfield, the Respondent's then general counsel, responded to Glassmeyer's request with the Lottery's determination under section 30-4-30(C) of the South Carolina Code on July 5, 2023. (R. pp. 61-67; Respondent FOIA determination 1-7.) The Lottery determined that Proviso 3.5 of the 2023–2024 Annual Appropriations Act—which took effect July 1, 2023—prohibited it from disclosing lottery winners' names in response to Request 1, among others, and that Requests 5, 12, and 18 were unduly burdensome, overly broad, and otherwise improper. (R. pp. 61-67; Respondent FOIA determination 1-7.) As for the remaining requests, the Lottery determined it would provide responsive documents but redact documents responsive to some requests, including Requests 4 and 11. (R. pp. 61-67; Respondent FOIA determination 1-7.)

Over the next month, Garfield and Glassmeyer exchanged over 20 emails about Glassmeyer's FOIA request and the responsive documents that were produced on a rolling basis. (R. pp. 104-145; Respondent Answer, Exhibits A-H.) On August 16, 2023, the Lottery sent a letter to Glassmeyer, conveying it had provided all responsive records subject to disclosure in response to his FOIA request. (R. pp. 147-148;

Respondent Answer, Exhibit I 2-3.) In this letter, Respondent again asked Glassmeyer if he would narrow Requests 5, 12, and 18. (R. pp. 147-148; Respondent Answer, Exhibit I 2-3.)

Appellant filed this lawsuit on September 15, 2023, alleging the Lottery breached the settlement agreement with him because it would not disclose lottery winners' names in response to his FOIA request. (R. pp. 48-67; Complaint 1-21.) He also alleges the Lottery violated FOIA in other respects explained below, including by not supplying documents to all his requests and by redacting certain information. (R. pp. 50-52; Complaint 3-5.) The Lottery filed an answer and counterclaim to Glassmeyer's verified complaint—which was verified by its then general counsel and supported by expert John Nichols—seeking relief from three of Glassmeyer's requests as “unduly burdensome, overly broad,” and “otherwise improper” under section 30-4-110(A). (R. pp. 96-102; Answer and Counterclaim 14-19.) Appellant answer Respondent's Counterclaim by reply on October 31, 2023. (R. pp. 175-179; Answer and Counterclaim 1-6.)

Additionally, the Lottery moved for partial dismissal, arguing Proviso 3.5 prohibited it from disclosing lottery winners' names and personal information. Glassmeyer opposed the motion and, for his part, moved to dismiss the Lottery's counterclaim. (R. pp. 69-82; Respondent partial motion to dismiss with exhibits 1-14.) Following a hearing on October 13, 2023, the lower court denied both parties' motions via Form 4 orders. (R. pp. 38-43; orders denying motions to dismiss counterclaim and complaint.) After the Chief Administrative Judge for Common Pleas in Richland

County assigned the case to the undersigned, the lower court entered a scheduling order at the parties' request. (R. pp. 33-34; scheduling order 1-2.)

The parties filed and briefed cross-motions for summary judgment, and the lower court held a hearing at the Richland County Courthouse on January 5, 2024. (R. pp. 181-257; Respondent motion for summary judgment with exhibits 1-20; R. pp. 181-244; Appellant motion for limited summary judgment 1-10; R. pp. 245-254; Affidavit of Glassmeyer 1-12; R. pp. 504-515.) At the end of the hearing, counsel for both parties agreed to submit cross-motions for summary judgment—without the necessity of another hearing—to brief a claim relating to Request 4 that was not addressed in their initial motions. (R. pp. 416; January 5 hearing transcript 59.) Both parties also conceded during the hearing there are no genuine issues of material fact, and the lower court can decide the questions presented as a matter of law. (R. pp. 361; January 5 hearing transcript 4.)

Respondent filed its supplemental motion for summary judgment addressing the issues regarding drawer's signatures and winner names on January 18, 2024. (R. pp. 258-263; Respondent supp. summary judgment motion with exhibit 1-6.) Appellant filed his supplemental motion for summary judgment on January 19, 2024. (R. pp. 264-273; Appellant supplemental summary judgment motion 1-9.) Respondent filed its second supplemental motion for summary judgment regarding the redactions of drawer's signatures on January 25, 2024. (R. pp. 274-296; Appellant second supplemental summary judgment motion with exhibits 1-9.) The lower court held consideration of all filed motions under advisement and all parties appeared for a

hearing on the cross motions for summary judgment on March 8, 2024. (R. pp. 428-476; March 8 hearing transcript 1-49.)

On May 6, 2024, the lower court entered its order granting Respondent's motions for summary judgment and denying Appellants. (R. pp. 6-28; Order on summary judgment 1-23.) Appellant filed and served his motion for reconsideration on May 16, 2024. (R. pp. 309-313; motion to reconsider 1-5.) Respondent filed and served its response to the motion to reconsider on June 3, 2024. (R. pp. 314-316; response to motion to reconsider 1-3.) On July 19, 2024, the lower court denied the motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 1-2; order denying the motion to reconsider 1-2.) This appeal followed on August 6, 2024. (R. pp. 317-318; notice of appeal 1-2.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, this court applies the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC. Fleming v. Rose, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002). "When the parties file cross-motions for summary judgment, the issue becomes a question of law for the [c]ourt to decide de novo." S.C. Pub. Int. Found. v. Calhoun Cnty. Council, 432 S.C. 492, 495, 854 S.E.2d 836, 837 (2021); see also Quicken Loans, Inc. v. Wilson, 425 S.C. 574, 579, 823 S.E.2d 697, 700 (Ct. App. 2019) ("Whe[n] cross[-]motions for summary judgment are filed, the parties concede the issue before us should be decided as a matter of law." (quoting Wiegand v. U.S. Auto. Ass'n, 391 S.C. 159, 163, 705 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2011))).

"[T]he interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the [c]ourt to review de novo." Calhoun Cnty. Council, 432 S.C. at 495, 854 S.E.2d at 837. "Determining

the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law, and this [c]ourt reviews questions of law de novo." Buchanan v. S.C. Prop. & Cas. Ins. Guar. Ass'n, 417 S.C. 562, 566, 790 S.E.2d 783, 785 (Ct. App. 2016)(quoting Lambries v. Saluda Cnty. Council, 409 S.C. 1, 7, 760 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2014)), aff'd as modified, 424 S.C. 542, 819 S.E.2d 124 (2018). "Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court." Wilson, 425 S.C. at 579, 823 S.E.2d at 700 (quoting Wiegand, 391 S.C. at 163, 705 S.E.2d at 434). "In a case raising a novel issue of law regarding the interpretation of a statute, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court." Buchanan, 417 S.C. at 566, 790 S.E.2d at 785 (quoting Lambries, 409 S.C. at 7-8, 760 S.E.2d at 788). "The appellate court is free to decide the question based on its assessment of which interpretation and reasoning would best comport with the law and public policies of this state and the [c]ourt's sense of law, justice, and right." Id. at 567, 790 S.E.2d at 785 (quoting Lambries, 409 S.C. at 8, 760 S.E.2d at 788).

ARGUMENT

I. The lower court erred in finding Respondent was entitled to judgment as a matter of law that it did not breach the settlement agreement or violate FOIA by declining to provide lottery winners' names at issue in this matter?

In the lower court's analysis regarding Glassmeyer's complaint that Respondent improperly refused to provide the names of lottery winners in response to his Request 1, the court conflates two distinct causes of action, those being contract law and FOIA compliance.

As provided in the 2022 settlement agreement between the parties (a contract), it was agreed that if the General Assembly did not enact legislation

addressing the disclosure of winners' names by May 31, 2023, that Respondent would provide such names in response to FOIA requests after that date. (R. pp. 77-79; settlement agreement 1-3.) It is undisputed that the General Assembly failed to enact such legislation on or before May 31, 2023, as it is also undisputed that Respondent received a FOIA request from Glassmeyer for such names on June 21, 2023. (R. pp. 57-59; Appellant FOIA request 1-3.) “FOIA's record disclosure requirement provides that ‘any person has a right to inspect or copy any public record of a public body’ subject to certain exceptions. S.C. Code Ann. § 30–4–30(a). A public body must provide any requested records **within** ten days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays, and legal public holidays of a request), and the body may collect fees to cover the costs of searching for and producing records. S.C. Code Ann § 30–4–30(B)—(C).” Disabato v. S.C. Ass'n of Sch. Adm'rs, 404 S.C. 433, 441, 746 S.E.2d 329, 333 (emphasis added). The very moment that Lottery received Glassmeyer's FOIA request all conditions and terms of the agreement had been satisfied and Lottery had an immediate duty to provide the winners' names, per the agreement. (R. pp. 78; settlement agreement 2.) The fact that Respondent had 10 (ten) business days to supply is final written determination to the associated FOIA request, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30, did not transform the agreement into a FOIA request. Rather, the FOIA issues are separate and distinct and improperly conflated by the lower court.

As to the FOIA request, the lower court correctly states that Respondent had the equivalent of ten (10) business days after receipt of Glassmeyer's request to respond with its final written determination as to the availability of the public record, including winners' names, and that on the tenth day the referenced budget Proviso had already

become effective, which purportedly barred Respondent from releasing winners' names. But Appellant and the lower court are mistaken. As shown above, Section 30-4-30(C) provides the public body with these ten days to allow it to make a determination as to the public availability of the requested records. The settlement agreement requires Respondent's production of winners' names as that determination had already been made by mutual consent of the parties in the 2022 settlement agreement.

As a further condition of settlement, the parties agree that the South Carolina Lottery Commission's current FOIA policy governing the disclosure of personal information under the unreasonable invasion of privacy exemption to FOIA, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-40(a)(2), shall remain in full force until May 31, 2023. If the South Carolina General Assembly does not enact legislation addressing this issue by such date, then the South Carolina Lottery Commission will provide the full names, cities, and states of lottery prize claimants in response to FOIA requests after that date.

George S. Glassmeyer agrees not to submit, directly or indirectly, any FOIA requests to the South Carolina Lottery Commission through May 31, 2023 seeking information regarding claimants and/or prize winners through that date.

Mediation Settlement Agreement 2. (R. pp. 78; settlement agreement 2.)

The record establishes that Appellant submitted a request for information on June 16, 2023 (acknowledged as received by Respondent on June 21, 2023) seeking information regarding lottery prize claimants/winners from Respondent. The Court can take judicial notice, and the parties stipulated to the dates that Proviso 3.5 (as contained in H.4300, the 2023-2024 Annual Appropriations Act) took effect. The legislative record establishes that this proviso did not become law until July 1, 2023. The parties specified in the above passage of its agreement that after May 31, 2023, the Appellant could request information that Respondent would then provide "[i]f the General

Assembly does not enact legislation addressing the issue by such date.” The General Assembly had passed the proviso at issue (June 14) by the time Appellant submitted his FOIA request (June 16) or it was received by Respondent (June 21) but either way Appellant’s request was received before the legislation was signed (June 26) or became effective (i.e., the day of enactment) on July 1, 2023.

Respondent’s construction of when its duty to supply a written determination to Appellant began is misplaced. FOIA is clear that the duty to respond with a written determination begins upon receipt of the request. See S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(C)(“Each public body, upon written request for records made under this chapter, shall within ten days (excepting Saturdays, Sundays, and legal public holidays) of the receipt of the request, notify the person making the request, notify the person making the request of its determination and the reasons for it...”.) Respondent may have had ten days excepting weekends and public holidays to fulfill its duty and supply the written determination before it became a violation of SCFOIA, but it makes no sense to say it did not have the duty of performance or FOIA compliance until after the proviso became effective. The Respondent’s duties under the agreement or the FOIA cannot be abrogated because it willfully chose to wait until the law has changed. Thus, Lottery could, and should, have notified Glassmeyer that the winners' names were immediately available on or about receipt of his FOIA request which was well before the Proviso became effective. The lower court erred in ruling otherwise.

II. The lower court erred in concluding Requests 5, 12, and 18 were both overly broad and unduly burdensome, thus ordering Respondent was entitled to relief under S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110(A).

Respondent is not entitled to relief from Appellant's Requests 5, 12, and 18 as production of this responsive information would be "unduly burdensome, overly broad, and otherwise improper", under S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-110(A), for it to provide, as urged in Respondent's filed counterclaim and defense in this matter. Instead, Appellant is entitled to summary judgment, a declaration that Respondent violated FOIA when it failed to supply responsive information to these requests, and an injunction to require Respondent to supply the responsive information within a reasonable timeline and manner, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-110(A).

The record of this matter is silent as to any attempt by Respondent to ask Appellant whether his requests (5, 12, 18) may be limited in (a) quantity of responsive information provided, or (b) time regarding when it would be provided, or (c) scope generally that would affect either the quantity of records produced or the duration of when it might be produced. Instead, the Respondent indicated in its written determinations for each (S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(C)) that "SCEL determines that the requested information ... is unduly burdensome, overly broad and is an otherwise improper request." (R. pp. 61-67; complaint exhibit B 1-7.) In each written determination, Respondent then provides approximations of how many records would be responsive to each of the requests and concludes the information would not be provided to Appellant.

The South Carolina Freedom of Information affords public bodies, like Respondent, the ability to defray the costs associated with their statutory duties of transparency under the Act. "The public body may establish and collect fees as provided for in this section." S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(B). In fact, Respondent "may

establish and collect reasonable fees not to exceed the actual cost of the search, retrieval, and redaction of records.” Id. Notably, this record and prior litigation between the parties (2022-CP-40-01769) shows that Respondent did not collect fees associated with FOIA requests. At this point, Respondent in this matter is judicially estopped from changing this position (not that it is doing so), but even if the Court agreed that Respondent could change its position and require a reasonable deposit of the expected charges of Mr. Glassmeyer’s request here, that would afford more transparency (despite Mr. Glassmeyer’s personal cost) than what Respondent is requesting in this case. The record reveals that Respondent wants to maintain publicly that it does not charge for FOIA requests, but then when a FOIA requester, like Appellant, submits a request for responsive information Respondent possesses, the Lottery Commission and public bodies like them can now simply say ‘No, the information would be unduly burdensome, overly broad, and otherwise improper’ to provide. Respondent should be praised for its stance of not charging for FOIA requests, but it cannot say to requesters like Appellant that it would simply cost too much in time or resources to supply responsive information upon meeting some arbitrary and private threshold.

Here, Respondent’s problem is one of their own making. As to the cost, Respondent had the option to institute and post a FOIA fee schedule to its website. The Appellant sued the Respondent in 2022, for failure to post a fee schedule as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-30(B) “The public body shall develop a fee schedule to be posted online.” The Respondent responded in its answer that “Defendant admits that no fee schedule is posted to its website because no such schedule exists. Respondent did not charge, and had never charged, citizens for costs associated with responding to

FOIA requests.” The court in that matter agreed with that rationale and granted summary judgment to the Respondent. Then upon receiving the FOIA request in the instant case, used that stance to say that they did not have to do more in response than to say that the requests 5, 12, 18 are unduly burdensome, overly broad, and otherwise improper where Respondent still did not charge for FOIA requests and then made no effort to seek some agreement to otherwise change the scope of a request. Appellant’s declaratory judgment request was indeed narrow in this respect, but he does then ask for an injunction, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann § 30-4-100 to supply the responsive information within a reasonable time. If Respondent had charged fees in this matter, this issue would not be controversy before the Court.

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