**RECEIVED**

**Apr 16 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001296

---

Georg S. Glassmeyer,..... Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Lottery Commission, ..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
SOUTH CAROLINA LOTTERY COMMISSION**

---

Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III (102123)  
Sarah C. Frierson (104643)  
ROBINSON GRAY STEPP & LAFFITTE, LLC  
2151 Pickens Street, Suite 500  
Post Office Box 11449  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 929-1400  
ltraywick@robinsongray.com  
sfrierson@robinsongray.com

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

---

<sup>3</sup> While Appellant generally criticizes the circuit court’s overall approach, he makes no specific arguments about the analysis and ruling on each request. As a result, he has abandoned any argument on that front. *See, e.g., First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994) (noting an issue is abandoned when party fails to “provide arguments or supporting authority”); *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. P’ship*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (stating one “may not use the reply brief to argue issues not argued in his brief in chief”).

in the separate section giving agencies an avenue for relief from harassing and unduly burdensome FOIA requests, however, predicates that relief on the agency first posting a fee schedule and charging fees. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-30(B) & -110(A). And as the circuit court found, money is not the only consideration. (R. p. 14). Although he stipulated to the record, Appellant continues to ignore the time and resources the agency would have to devote—regardless of cost—to respond to his unduly burdensome requests. *See* (R. pp. 12–15).

Nor does the statute cabin its applicability to expensive requests only. The Court should thus reject Appellant’s invitation to redline the statute to adopt his preferred outcome, which would have given him *less* information than what the Lottery provided here. *See* (R. p. 312); (R. p. 409:7–18); *see also Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 87, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (noting a court “cannot rewrite the statute and inject matters into it which are not in the legislature’s language”); *Gentry v. Yonce*, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137, 143 (1999) (“Statutes should not be construed so as to lead to an absurd result.”).

What is more, Appellant’s concern that the Lottery—or any other public body—can “now simply say” that a request is unduly burdensome on “some arbitrary and private threshold” when it does not want to respond to the request is misplaced. (Appellant’s Br. at 11). As the circuit court observed, “judicial review precludes agencies from self-imposing [Appellant’s] feared rudderless standard, and courts are more than capable of determining—on a case-by-case basis—whether a FOIA request runs afoul of a statute.” (R. p. 13). Also consider what happened here: Appellant served eighteen voluminous FOIA requests on the Lottery, and the Lottery provided responsive information to all but three objectionable requests. In fact, the Lottery “still spent over 100 hours retrieving, reviewing, redacting, and otherwise responding to [Appellant’s] remaining 15 requests in addition to fielding new follow-up ones.” *Id.*; *see also* (R. pp. 87–88).

Turning to the circuit court’s invocation of discovery practice in its analysis, Appellant failed to preserve this issue. The only issue Appellant raised in his motion to reconsider on the unduly burdensome claim is the Lottery’s lack of fee for responding to FOIA requests. *See* (R. pp. 309–13). He did not challenge the use of discovery law during the hearing on the motion to reconsider either. *See* (R. pp. 479–502); *cf. I’On, LLC*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (“The losing party must first try to convince the lower court that it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.”).

Even if the issue were preserved, it misses the mark. To begin, the circuit court did not “domina[ntly] rel[y] on discovery practice principles to resolve this FOIA controversy.” (Appellant’s Br. at 12). Instead, in this “matter of first impression” involving terms with which it was “quite familiar,” the circuit court “dr[ew] on its experience handling discovery issues in analyzing Requests 5, 12, and 18, while keeping in mind the purpose of FOIA and the liberal construction afforded its provisions.” (R. p. 11).

That was entirely appropriate. Subsection 30-4-110(A) includes the terms “overly broad” and “unduly burdensome,” but it does not define them. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110(A). “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the [General Assembly].” *Hodges*, 341 S.C. at 85, 533 S.E.2d at 581. “In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011). As Appellant ostensibly recognizes, courts “must give the words found in the statute their ‘plain and ordinary meaning without resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute’s operation.”” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cnty. Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (quoting *Sloan v. Hardee*, 371 S.C. 495, 499, 640 S.E.2d 457, 459 (2007)).

Appellant admits he is not saying “discovery practice jurisprudence may not be used to inform a court’s resolution of novel issues like those in S.C. Code Ann. §30-4-110 present here.” (Appellant’s Br. at 14). His attempt to assign error is thus unclear, for that’s what the circuit court did: it considered what “unduly burdensome” might mean in its ordinary and popular sense under the law and drew on its experience handling “unduly burdensome” discovery requests. (R. p. 11). And for good reason. “In ascertaining the meaning of language used in a statute, [courts] presume the General Assembly is ‘aware of the common law, and where a statute uses a term that has a well-recognized meaning in the law, the presumption is that the General Assembly intended to use the term in that sense.’” *Grier v. AMISUB of S.C., Inc.*, 397 S.C. 532, 536, 725 S.E.2d 693, 696 (2012) (quoting *State v. Bridgers*, 329 S.C. 11, 14, 495 S.E.2d 196, 198 (1997)).

In doing so, however, the circuit court did not throw caution to the wind and “deviate from, or otherwise minimize, the controlling statutory authority in FOIA’s codified purpose.”<sup>4</sup> (Appellant’s Br. at 14). Rather, it considered what “unduly burdensome” might mean under the circumstances of this case, “while keeping in mind the purpose of FOIA and the liberal construction afforded its provisions.” (R. p. 11). Indeed, the circuit court began its analysis with the acknowledgement that it was “mindful of and guided by the FOIA context in which this case arises.” (R. p. 9). According to the circuit court, this included the remedial nature of FOIA and the liberal interpretation it deserves. (R. pp. 9–10). And in analyzing the requests, the circuit court found “the cost of responding is but one consideration. An unduly burdensome objection

---

<sup>4</sup> As an aside, Appellant continues to argue “FOIA’s only prohibited purpose for submitting a request” is “commercial solicitation.” *See, e.g.*, (Appellant’s Br. at 14). He has yet to provide a citation for that assertion. And section 30-4-50(B), upon which he relies, does not stand for that proposition. In any event, in section 30-4-110(A), the General Assembly enumerated four types of requests as well as any “otherwise improper requests” from which a public body may seek relief. S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-110(A). Appellant’s attempt to limit it is therefore unavailing.

necessarily requires an evaluation of the time and effort a party must expend responding to the request too.” (R. p. 14).

That is not reversible error. Especially not on these facts: Appellant’s requests would either “require the Lottery to halt its operations” and “spend 50,000 hours responding to a FOIA request” or “cost approximately \$7,820,100 to \$10,426,800 for a law firm to review, redact, and produce” responsive records. (R. pp. 14–15). As Appellant admits, the circuit court “describe[ed] in detail the burden [the Lottery] faced if it were forced to disclose the responsive information.” (Appellant’s Br. at 14); *see also* (R. pp. 12–15). But he ignores that the circuit court recentered the analysis by balancing that burden with the objectives of FOIA and Appellant’s interest in the information. When it all went on the scale, Appellant’s onerous requests failed the balancing test.<sup>5</sup>

Because Requests 5, 12, and 18 are unduly burdensome, the circuit court correctly granted the Lottery relief from responding to them.

*C. Requests 5, 12, and 18 are overly broad.*

At the threshold, Appellant’s challenge to the circuit court’s ruling that Requests 5, 12, and 18 are overly broad is not preserved. He did not contest the circuit court’s separate ruling on the overbreadth of Requests 5, 12, and 18 in his motion to reconsider. *See* (R. pp. 309–13); *but see I’On, LLC*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. Although the Lottery noted this omission during the hearing, he did not respond. (R. pp. 494–97, 501–02).

Even so, as the circuit court noted, “the parties agreed it would be appropriate for the Court to consider the reason for seeking the information as compared to the specific request.” (R. p. 15); *cf. Denson*, 439 S.C. at 149, 886 S.E.2d at 232 (relying on a point “counsel conceded at oral

---

<sup>5</sup> Appellant’s statement that the circuit court “simply pointed to the size, seemingly exclaimed ‘big’ and ended the inquiry,” (Appellant’s Br. at 15), is irreconcilable with his concession that the circuit court’s order was “detail[ed].”

argument” in analyzing an issue). It is unsurprising, then, that the circuit court analyzed each request, compared the three requests to Appellant’s stated purpose for seeking information, and found each request was overly broad. (R. pp. 15–16). Appellant cannot be heard to complain about the circuit court’s analysis now after conceding it was appropriate.<sup>6</sup> *See* (R. p. 408:13–18); *cf. Hood*, 445 S.C. at 7 n.2, 910 S.E.2d at 770 n.2 (criticizing the losing party’s arguments because they “have shifted at every step of this litigation”).

Next, Appellant repeats his misguided belief that the Lottery cannot seek relief for an overbroad request if it does not charge a fee and his critique of the circuit court’s reference to discovery principles in its analysis. (Appellant’s Br. at 15–16). Both arguments fail for the reasons explained above. *See supra* Section II.B (explaining Appellant’s misreading of the two statutes and the circuit court’s reconciliation of FOIA’s codified purpose); *see also* (R. pp. 9–10).

Appellant is thus left with an argument he did not raise on reconsideration that the circuit court erred in purportedly finding he should have “take[n] care with how broadly a request is worded so as not [to] burden public bodies unnecessarily.” (Appellant’s Br. at 16). “FOIA does not have such a restriction,” Appellant says, and “[a] requester can submit a request that yields information as vast as that person desires.” *Id.* Appellant contends it is “ironic” that the circuit court “chastise[d]” his refusal to narrow his overly broad requests upon invitation, claiming “the state history [shows] the Legislature was trying to remedy [those views] when it passed FOIA.” (Appellant’s Br. at 16). “These arguments, too, are utterly meritless.” *Hood*, 445 S.C. at 12, 910 S.E.2d at 773. Although he may wish subsection 30-4-110(A) weren’t on the books, the General

---

<sup>6</sup> As with his unduly burdensome arguments, *see supra* note 3, Appellant makes only generalized critiques about the circuit court’s overall approach to determining whether Requests 5, 12, and 18 are overly broad. His conclusory argument is therefore abandoned. *See, e.g., First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. at 363, 444 S.E.2d at 514; *Fields*, 312 S.C. at 106, 439 S.E.2d at 285.

Assembly enacted that provision to give public bodies an avenue for relief from harassing FOIA requests like these. So while it is true a person can submit an overly broad FOIA request, it is equally true that a public body can decline to fulfill that request and seek relief under section 30-4-110(A).

Likewise, Appellant’s attempt to twist the circuit court’s recognition that “some of these records [sought] may very well be tailored to [Appellant’s] concern of purported embezzlement within the Lottery,” (Appellant’s Br. at 15–16), proves too much. Of course, an overly broad FOIA request could produce at least some responsive records. But the problem with overbreadth is that it is excessive and not appropriately tailored. A state agency cannot be required to endure overly broad requests—like Requests 5, 12, and 18—simply because a frequent FOIA requester “in part” concocts an unfounded concern “about possible continuing embezzlement of public funds within [the] agency.”<sup>7</sup> (R. p. 57).

This “case has all of the earmarks of a fishing expedition, an enterprise” our supreme court “has time and again stated that it does not favor.” *Royster v. Unity Life Ins. Co.*, 193 S.C. 468, 472, 8 S.E.2d 875, 877 (1940). The Lottery met its burden of proving that was the case, and Appellant did not show otherwise. As a result, the circuit court concluded that “[e]ven when liberally construing FOIA in favor of the public’s access to records”—“on balance—[Appellant’s] unparticularized hunch about potential embezzlement is insufficient to justify the unwieldy

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant submitted no evidence to support this assertion. *Cf.* Rule 56(e), SCRPC. If a bald, conclusory assertion like that is all it takes to defeat overbreadth and unduly burdensome claims, that tool would never be at an agency’s disposal. The General Assembly, however, did not create a useless remedy. *See Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 212, 574 S.E.2d 196, 198 (2002) (“The Court must presume the legislature did not intend a futile act, but rather intended its statutes to accomplish something.”).

production he demands.” (R. p. 17). “That is especially so where, as here, [Appellant] still declines to tailor these wi[de]-ranging requests at all to that concern.” *Id.*

In sum, the circuit court considered Appellant’s reason for making Requests 5, 12, and 18 as balanced against the tailoring of each specific request and what it might yield—as the parties agreed was appropriate—while considering FOIA’s transparency driven purpose. Taking that all into account, the circuit court correctly found Requests 5, 12, and 18 were overly broad under section 30-4-110(A). Appellant mounts no serious challenge to that carefully considered ruling.

*III. The circuit court correctly rejected Appellant’s claim on the Lottery’s redaction of check drawers’ signatures on produced check copies.*

In response to Appellant’s FOIA request to produce “[c]opies of all checks (front and back) and/or wire transfers issued to all persons identified in Item #1 above,” (R. p. 57), the Lottery produced responsive records, redacting the check drawers’ signatures, the same day it made its final determination, *see* (R. p. 259).

Two weeks later, on July 18, 2023, Appellant emailed Garfield, asking for unredacted copies of the responsive checks “with the respective drawer(s) signature(s) clearly visible.” *See* (R. p. 286). On July 21, 2023, Garfield explained “signatures are not subject to disclosure and are considered private information under the Family Privacy Protection Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-2-10 *et seq.*, which requires public officials to redact records that contain such personal information.” (R. pp. 284–85). She continued, however, explaining “[t]he respective drawers of the checks were completed by the SCEL’s CFO and the CFO that preceded him” and providing a chart of the CFOs’ names with each corresponding check. (R. pp. 284–85, 287–88). Appellant responded that same day, stating “[t]hanks for your prompt and comprehensive response” and asking whether “disbursement checks payable to lottery winners only require one drawer signature (i.e., the Lottery CFO)?” (R. p. 284). Garfield responded in the affirmative several days later. (R. p. 290).

The Lottery heard nothing more from Appellant on this issue and thought it was settled. In its August 16, 2023 letter, the Lottery said it had provided all responsive records subject to disclosure in response to his FOIA request. (R. p. 147). Less than three weeks later, Appellant filed this lawsuit, alleging in conclusory fashion that the Lottery “did respond with some records pursuant to Item 4; however failed to provide unredacted information concerning drawers’ signatures or winners[’] names in violation of FOIA.” (R. p. 51).

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